No. 46632-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

AnthonyTolman,

Appellant.

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-02363-6 The Honorable Judge K.A. van Doorninck

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. Tolman's eluding conviction and the associated sentence enhancement violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 2. The state introduced insufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Tolman drove in a reckless manner.
- 3. The state introduced insufficient evidence to prove that any bystander was threatened with physical injury or harm.
 - **ISSUE 1:** A conviction for attempting to elude requires proof that the accused person drove in a reckless manner. Here, the evidence showed only that Mr. Tolman sought to elude pursuit, not that he drove in a rash or heedless manner, indifferent to the consequences. Did the conviction for attempting to elude violate Mr. Tolman's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the evidence failed to establish an essential element of the offense?
 - **ISSUE 2:** For purposes of a sentencing enhancement, the state was required to prove that Mr. Tolman's conduct threatened a bystander with physical injury or harm. The state did not prove that any bystander was placed in harm's way. Was the evidence insufficient to prove the sentencing enhancement beyond a reasonable doubt?
- 4. Mr. Tolman's conviction for attempting to elude violated his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to notice of the charges against him.
- 5. Mr. Tolman's conviction for attempting to elude violated his state constitutional right to notice of the charges against him under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3and22.
- 6. The Information was legally deficient because it failed to allege the essential elements of attempting to elude.
- 7. The Information was legally deficient because it failed to allege that an officer signaled Mr. Tolman by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren.
 - **ISSUE 3:** A criminal Information must set forth all of the essential elements of an offense. The Information did not allege that an officer signaled Mr. Tolman by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren. Did the Information omit an essential legal element of attempting to elude in violation of

Mr. Tolman's right to adequate notice under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and art. I, § 22?

- 8. Mr. Tolman's convictions in counts one and two and the sentencing enhancement in count one violated Mr. Tolman's right to notice under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments.
- 9. Mr. Tolman's convictions in counts one and two and the sentencing enhancement in count one violated his state constitutional right to notice under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3, 9, and 22.
- 10. The Information was factually deficient because it failed to allege critical facts identifying the attempting to elude charge and allowing Mr. Tolman to plead a former acquittal or conviction in any subsequent prosecution for a similar offense.
- 11. The Information was factually deficient because it failed to allege critical facts identifying the sentencing enhancement and allowing Mr. Tolman to plead a former acquittal or conviction in any subsequent prosecution for a similar offense.
- 12. The Information was factually deficient because it failed to allege critical facts identifying the possession of a stolen vehicle charge charge and allowing Mr. Tolman to plead a former acquittal or conviction in any subsequent prosecution for a similar offense.
 - **ISSUE 4:** A charging document must set forth any critical facts necessary to identify the particular crime charged. Here, the Information did not provide any details describing the attempting to elude charge, the associated sentence enhancement, or the possession of a stolen vehicle charge. Did the omission of critical facts infringe Mr. Tolman's right to an adequate charging document under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments and art. I, §§ 3, 9, and 22?
- 13. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Tolman's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 14. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Tolman's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a jury trial.
- 15. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Tolman's right to a jury trial under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21 and 22.
- 16. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof and undermined the presumption of innocence.

ISSUE 5: In a criminal case, jurors must be instructed to acquit if they have a doubt that is reasonable. Here, the trial court instructed jurors that a reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists. Did the court's instruction undermine the presumption of innocence, impermissibly shift the burden of proof, and vitiate the jury's verdicts?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Someone stole Juan Blanco's car in Snohomish County on June 16, 2014. RP 256-257. The next day, Deputy Wheeler saw the same car in Pierce County and followed it. RP 47-53. He turned on his lights and chased the car for a time. RP 57-62.

There was only one point during the chase in which there was another vehicle in the road. A car was standing in the turn lane, and both the stolen and police vehicles went around it. RP 69-71, 95-96, 102.

At some point, the driver stopped the car and ran into some brush.

RP 76-82. The driver was not apprehended, even after a tracking dog searched the area. RP 105-125.

Police arrested Anthony Tolman for driving the car that night. He was charged with attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, unlawful possession of a stolen vehicle, possession of stolen property, and driving while license suspended in the first degree. ¹ CP 8-10. The eluding count also contained an aggravator that alleged that Mr. Tolman endangered a person other than himself and the pursuing police officer. CP 8-10. The eluding count alleged that Mr. Tolman

...did unlawfully, feloniously, and willfully fail or refuse to immediately bring his vehicle to a stop and drive his vehicle in a

¹ A charge of possessing motor vehicle theft tools was dismissed. CP 9;

reckless manner while attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, after being given a visual or audible signal to bring his vehicle to a stop by a uniformed officer in a vehicle equipped with lights and sirens...

CP 8.

The aggravating factor was that "during the commission thereof, the defendant endangered one or more persons other than the defendant or the pursuing law enforcement officer, contrary to 9.94a.834…" CP 8.

The possession of a stolen vehicle count averred that Mr. Tolman "did unlawfully and feloniously knowingly possess a stolen motor vehicle, knowing that it had been stolen, contrary to RCW 9A.56.0668 and 9A.56.140...." CP 8-9.

At trial, Deputy Wheeler confirmed that he noted no traffic or pedestrians except for the one car in the turn lane. RP 70-71, 96, 102. He testified that the car was in the left turn lane. He said the car he was chasing started to go around it to the left, but that it then went back into its own lane of travel and continued around the left turning vehicle. RP 69-71. Wheeler said the car was not moving. RP 96.

Wheeler described the driving of the car he was pursuing in several ways. He said that they both went over the speed limit, that they went through a stop sign, that they drove through a parking lot and the driver of the vehicle hit a shopping cart and popped his tire, and that they did not stay in their lanes. RP 57-104.

The court told the jury that a "reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists". CP 16.

The jury convicted Mr. Tolman on all charges and answered yes to the aggravating factor. After he was sentenced, Mr. Tolman timely appealed. CP 49, 65.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT MR. TOLMAN OF ATTEMPTING TO ELUDE.
- A. Standard of Review.

Constitutional violations are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d 153, 158, 307 P.3d 712 (2013). A conviction must be reversed for insufficient evidence if, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, no rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d 1, 6, 309 P.3d 318 (2013).

B. No rational trier of fact could have found Mr. Tolman guilty of attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle.

Due process requires the state to prove every element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). The remedy for a conviction based on insufficient evidence is reversal and dismissal with

prejudice. *Smalis v. Pennsylvania*, 476 U.S. 140, 144, 106 S.Ct. 1745, 90 L.Ed.2d 116 (1986).

To be sufficient, evidence must be more than substantial. *Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d at 6. On review, inferences drawn in favor of the prosecution may not rest on evidence that is "patently equivocal." *Id.*, at 8. To establish even a *prima facie* case, the prosecution must present evidence that is consistent with guilt and inconsistent with a hypothesis of innocence. *State v. Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d 311, 328-29, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (addressing the *corpus delicti* rule).

To prove eluding, the state is required to establish that the accused person drove in a "reckless manner," defined as a "rash or headless manner, with indifference to the consequences." RCW 46.61.024; *State v. Naillieux*, 158 Wn. App. 630, 644, 241 P.3d 1280 (2010) (internal quotation marks omitted); *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 622, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). In this case, the prosecution did not prove that Mr. Tolman drove in a reckless manner.

The evidence tending to show imperfect driving consisted of evidence that Mr. Tolman:

- Drove his vehicle above the speed limit.
- Went through a stop sign
- Drove fast through a parking lot, where he hit a shopping cart rack, popped one tire, and continued driving.
- Drove through a bank's drive-through lane

- Almost drove around a car that was stationary in the roadway
- Didn't stay in his lane while driving RP 57-98.

This all took place at around 2:00 a.m. RP 47-49. The two vehicles encountered only one other vehicle—the one that was stationary in the roadway. There is no indication that the stationary car was occupied, or that any other people were in the vicinity during the vehicle's attempt to get away. RP 69-71, 96-98, 102.

This evidence does not prove reckless driving. Although the driving was less than perfect, it did not rise to the level of rash or heedless driving. *Naillieux*, 158 Wn. App. at 644. Nor did it show indifference to consequences. *Id*.

Because the evidence was insufficient to prove that Mr. Tolman drove in a reckless manner, his conviction must be reversed. *Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d at 6. The charge must be dismissed with prejudice. *Id*.

C. No rational trier of fact could have found that any bystander was threatened with physical injury or harm.

The state did not prove that anyone other than the police was present when the pursued vehicle tried to get away. RP 102. The two cars encountered only one other car, which was stationary in the roadway. RP 69-72, 102. Even if the state had presented evidence that this car had

an occupant, the driver's conduct did not threaten that occupant with physical injury or harm.

Because of this, the special verdict was not supported by the evidence. The enhancement must be vacated and dismissed, and the case remanded for correction of Mr. Tolman's sentence. *Smalis*, 476 U.S. at 144.

II. THE AMENDED INFORMATION WAS LEGALLY AND FACTUALLY INSUFFICIENT.

A. Standard of Review.

Challenges to the sufficiency of a charging document are reviewed *de novo*. *Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d at 158. Such challenges may be raised for the first time on appeal. *Id.*, at161. Where the Information is challenged after verdict, the reviewing court construes the document liberally. *Id*. A fair construction of the Information must set forth the essential elements and necessary facts. *Id*., at 162. If the Information is deficient, prejudice is presumed. *Id*.. The remedy for an insufficient charging document is reversal and dismissal without prejudice. *Id*., at 164.

B. The Amended Information did not to properly charge attempting to elude because it omitted an essential legal element.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to be fully informed of the charge s/he faces. This right stems from the Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the federal constitution, as well as art. I, §§ 3 and 22 of the Washington State Constitution. The right to constitutionally-sufficient Information is one that must be "zealously guarded." *State v. Royse*, 66 Wn.2d 552, 557, 403 P.2d 838 (1965).

All of the essential elements of a crime must be alleged in the charging document. *Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d at 158. Failure to include an essential element requires dismissal without prejudice. *State v. Johnson*, 180 Wn.2d 295, 301, 325 P.3d 135 (2014) (Johnson I).

1. The state failed to allege that Mr. Tolman was given a signal by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren.

To convict a person of attempting to elude, the prosecution must show that a uniformed officer gave the accused person a visual or audible signal to stop. The signal "may be by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren." RCW 46.61.024.

The state alleged in the Information that an officer gave Mr. Tolman a visual or audible signal to stop, but did not specify that it was given by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren. CP 8. Because the charging document omitted this essential element, it is constitutionally insufficient. *Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d at 158. Mr. Tolman's eluding conviction must be reversed. *Id*.

2. The *Pittman* court misinterpreted RCW 46.61.024 and rendered a portion of the statute superfluous.

In interpreting any statute, the court's duty is to "discern and implement the legislature's intent." *State v. Williams*, 171 Wn.2d 474, 477, 251 P.3d 877 (2011). The court's inquiry "always begins with the plain language of the statute." *State v. Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d186, 194, 102 P.3d 789 (2004).

Where the language of a statute is clear, legislative intent is derived from the language of the statute alone. *Jametsky v. Rodney A.*, -- Wn.2d --, 317 P.3d 1003, 1006 (Wash. 2014). The court may not add language to a clearly worded statute, even if it believes the legislature intended more. *In re Detention of Martin*, 163 Wn.2d 501, 509, 182 P.3d 951 (2008). A statute should not be interpreted in a way that renders some language superfluous. *State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d 534, 546-47, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014) (Johnson II).

RCW 46.61.024 provides a uniformed officer with choices as to how to signal a motorist to stop: the visual or audible signal "may be by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren." RCW 46.61.024(1). While giving the officer options, this language makes clear that not every signal would

11

² A court may not rewrite a statute even if the legislature intended something else but failed to express it adequately. *Martin*, 163 Wn.2d at 509. The judiciary may only correct inconsistencies that render a statute meaningless. *Martin*, 163 Wn.2d at 512-513.

"count" as a predicate for an eluding charge. For example, an officer who beeps her horn could not arrest a motorist for eluding without also giving a visual or audible signal made by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren.

The officer may choose any of the listed means, but may not resort to other means.

This language regarding the means of signaling must be given effect; otherwise, it is entirely superfluous. *Johnson* II, 179 Wn.2d at 546-547. Each of the listed means qualify as either visual or audible; had the legislature meant *any* visual or audible signal to suffice, it would have omitted the entire sentence.

The statute's use of the word "may" does not change this. There is no ambiguity in the statute: the word "may" provides the officer with a choice as to the mode of signaling. The *Pittman* court's contrary ruling is a distortion of the statutory language. *State v. Pittman*, ---Wn. App. ---,
____, 341 P.3d 1024, 1027 (Wash. Ct. App. 2015).

By interpreting the mode of signal as purely optional, the *Pittman* court rendered the language entirely superfluous. *Id*. Under the *Pittman* court's reading of the statute, any visual or audible signal qualifies as a predicate to the offense. *Id*. The legislature could have omitted the sentence outlining the method by which the signal may be given and achieved the same result. The fact that the legislature included the

language shows that the legislature's intent was to limit the kinds of visual or audible signals essential to the offense, while still giving officers some degree of flexibility.³

Because the statutory language is unambiguous, the *Pittman* court erred by ignoring its plain meaning. *Pittman* was incorrectly decided. It is also harmful, and thus should be overruled. *State v. W.R., Jr.*, 181 Wn.2d 757, 768, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014) (explaining the standard for overruling precedent).

The *Pittman* decision is harmful because it can result in prosecution and conviction of persons whose conduct was not meant to qualify as eluding. For example, a person who fails to stop after an officer beeps her horn could be accused of eluding. This is not what the legislature intended, as can be seen from the statute's plain language. RCW 46.61.024.

This court should overrule *Pittman* and reverse Mr. Tolman's eluding conviction. *W.R., Jr.*, 181 Wn.2d at 768. The charge must be dismissed without prejudice. *Zillvette*, 178 Wn.2d at 158.

³ The *Pittman* court ignored the plain language of the statute, in part because the plain language would prohibit eluding charges based on "certain types of law enforcement signals such as whistles, flares, or written signs." *Pittman*, --- Wn. App. at ____. But the court may not expand the statute simply because it believes the legislature may have intended more. *Martin*, 163 Wn.2d at 509, 512-513. Furthermore, motorists must obey signals such as whistles, flares, and written signs, and may be charged with infractions or other offenses if they ignore them. *See* RCW 46.

C. The Amended Information failed to allege critical facts sufficient to allow Mr. Tolman to plead his convictions as a bar against a second prosecution on counts one and two.

A charging document "is only sufficient if it (1) contains the elements of the charged offense, (2) gives the defendant adequate notice of the charges, and (3) protects the defendant against double jeopardy."

Valentine v. Konteh, 395 F.3d 626, 631 (6th Cir. 2005).⁴ The charge must include more than "the elements of the offense intended to be charged."

Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 749, 763-64, 82 S.Ct. 1038, 8 L.Ed.2d 240 (1962) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

Any offense charged in the language of the statute "must be accompanied with such a statement of the facts and circumstances as will inform the accused of the specific offense." *Id.* (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). The charge must also be specific enough to allow the defendant to plead the former acquittal or conviction "in case any other proceedings are taken against him for a similar offense." *Id.*

Any "critical facts must be found within the four corners of the charging document." *City of Seattle v. Termain*, 124 Wn. App. 798, 803, 103 P.3d 209 (2004). For example, in theft cases, the charging document must "clearly" charge the accused person with a crime relating to

⁴ The Fifth Amendment, applicable through the Fourteenth, protects the accused person against double jeopardy. U.S. Const. Amend. V, XIV. Art. I, § 9 embodies a similar right.

"specifically described property." *State v. Greathouse*, 113 Wn. App. 889, 903, 56 P.3d 569 (2002).⁵

In this case, the Information fails to include sufficient facts to protect against double jeopardy as to counts one and two.⁶ CP 8-10; *Russell*, 369 U.S. at 763-64. Because of this, Mr. Tolman's convictions and the associated sentencing enhancement must be vacated and the charge dismissed without prejudice. *Id*.

In count one, the Information does not name the officer Mr. Tolman allegedly eluded. It does not specify the signal he allegedly ignored. It does not describe the location of the crime, or the specific conduct constituting the offense. CP 8. Because it alleges the crime only in the bare language of the statute, it cannot provide the double jeopardy protection required by the state and federal constitutions. *Russell*, 369 U.S. at 763-64.

Similarly, the Information accuses Mr. Tolman using only the bare language of the sentencing enhancement. It does not identify the

⁵When the charging document includes "not a single word to indicate the nature, character, or value of the property," the charge is "too vague and indefinite upon which to deprive one of his [or her] liberty." *Edwards v. United States*, 266 F. 848, 851 (4th Cir. 1920).

⁶ And the sentencing enhancement associated with count one.

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