NO. 46632-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

ANTHONY TOLMAN, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Kitty-Ann van Doorninck

No. 14-1-02363-6

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By BRENT J. HYER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 33338

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

•

2. Facts

On June 17, 2014, Deputy Scott Wheeler was on routine patrol when he was notified by the King County Sheriff's Department that a stolen vehicle, specifically a black Nissan Sentra, was in the vicinity.

- 2 -

8/26/14 RP 51. Deputy Wheeler located the car driving westbound on
Emerald and confirmed it was the stolen car. 8/26/14 RP 54. Deputy
Wheeler turned on his emergency lights to signal the vehicle to stop.
8/26/14 RP 57.

Instead of stopping, defendant accelerated away and ran a stop sign. 8/26/14 RP 58. Defendant, traveling at around 50 MPH, drove down the middle of a Safeway parking lot, hitting a shopping cart rack. 8/26/14 RP 61. This collision damaged the vehicle's right front tire, causing it to deflate. 8/26/14 RP 61. Defendant got back on the road traveling southbound on Meridian. 8/26/14 RP 64. Because of the flat tire, defendant was driving the car on its rim and sparks were coming off the road. 8/26/14 RP 68. The car was also weaving back and forth. 8/26/14 RP 68. Defendant was traveling over 50 MPH in a 35 MPH zone and driving in and out of the lane of travel and the center lane. 8/26/14 RP 68.

At 36th street, Deputy Wheeler noted another vehicle in the turn lane. 8 26/14 RP 69. Defendant went around the car by driving into oncoming traffic. 8/26/14 RP 69-70. Defendant continued crossing into oncoming the oncoming traffic lane. 8/26/14 RP 72.

Deputy Wheeler caught up to the vehicle and observed defendant as the driver. 8/26/14 RP 73-74. Soon after, defendant pulled into a car

- 3 -

dealership parking lot, exited the car, and took off running. 8/26/14 RP 77. During a K-9 track of the area, officers located a jacket with defendant's wallet and iPhone in it. 8/26/14 RP 87. The wallet contained defendant's Washington ID card. 8/26/14 RP 87. Also in the wallet was a stolen Discover credit card with the name Li Ning on it. 8/26/14 RP 92.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>.

1. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FROM WHICH A RATIONAL TRIER OF FACT COULD HAVE FOUND THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF ATTEMPTING TO ELUDE A PURSUING POLICE VEHICLE.

In a criminal case, a defendant may challenge the sufficiency of the evidence before trial, at the end of the State's case in chief, at the end of all of the evidence, after the verdict, and on appeal. *State v. Lopez*, 107 Wn. App. 270, 276, 27 P.3d 237 (2001). "In a claim of insufficient evidence, a reviewing court examines whether 'any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt,' 'viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State.'" *State v. Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d 311, 336, P.3d 59 (2006) (*quoting State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)). Thus, sufficient evidence supports a conviction when, viewing it in the light most favorable to the State. a rational fact finder could find the essential

elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Cannon*, 120 Wn. App. 86, 90, 84 P.3d 283 (2004).

"A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Myers*, 133 Wn.2d 26, 37, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997)). All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Finally, determinations of credibility are for the fact finder and are not reviewable on appeal. *Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d at 336; *State v. Locke*, 175 Wn. App. 779, 788-89, 307 P.3d 771, 776 (2013). In determining the sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence is not to be considered any less reliable than direct evidence. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99, 101 (1980). In addition, a jury can infer the specific criminal intent of a criminal defendant where it is a matter of logical probability. *Id*.

To convict defendant of attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, the State proved that defendant unlawfully, feloniously, and willfully failed or refused to immediately bring his vehicle to a stop and drive his vehicle in a reckless manner while attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, after being given a visual or audible signal to bring his vehicle to a stop by a uniformed officer in a vehicle equipped with lights

- 5 -

and sirens. RCW 46.61.024(1). Defendant challenges only the sufficiency of the reckless manner of the driving. BOA 7.

There was sufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to determine that defendant drove in a reckless manner. Jury instruction number 10 defined "reckless manner" as "to drive in a rash or heedless manner, indifferent to the consequences. CP24. While defendant argues that defendant exhibited "imperfect driving," his driving rose to the level of "reckless manner."

Defendant began the crime by accelerating away from Deputy Wheeler and running a stop sign. 8/26/14 RP 58. Defendant, traveling at around 50 MPH in a 35 MPH zone, next drove down the middle of a Safeway parking lot, hitting a shopping cart rack. 8/26/14 RP 61. This collision damaged the vehicle's right front tire causing it to start to deflate. 8/26/14 RP 61. The vehicle then got back on the road traveling southbound on Meridian. 8/26/14 RP 64. Because of the flat tire, defendant was driving the car on its rim and sparks were coming off the road and the car was weaving back and forth. 8/26/14 RP 68. Defendant, still traveling about 15 MPH over the speed limit, was driving in and out of the lane of travel and the center lane. 8/26/14 RP 68.

At 36th street, Deputy Wheeler noted another vehicle in the turn lane. 8 26/14 RP 69. Defendant went around the car by driving into

- 6 -

oncoming traffic. 8/26/14 RP 69-70. Defendant continued crossing into oncoming the oncoming traffic lane. 8/26/14 RP 72. All of the above driving indicates that defendant's driving was done in a rash or heedless manner indifferent to the consequences. There is sufficient evidence to uphold defendant's conviction.

The fact that this driving occurs at 2:00 a.m. does not make a difference. "The State need not prove that anyone else was endangered by the defendant's conduct, or that a high probability of harm actually existed." *State v. Whitcomb*, 51 Wn. App. 322, 327, 753 P.2d 565, 568 (1988). In *Whitcomb*, the Court noted that Whitcomb's driving of an ATV on a public road at night, speeding and running a red light was sufficient evidence to support the charge of attempting to elude a police vehicle. *Id.* at 239. Defendant's driving in the case at bar is similar to *Whitcomb*, arguably more dangerous due to the flat tire.

Defendant's driving was also found to have endangered another person on the road as evidenced by the jury's special verdict. Defendant argues that there was no evidence that this car was occupied, and even if there was evidence of an occupant, there was no proof that defendant's conduct threatened this person with physical injury or harm. It is a reasonable inference that someone was in the car given that the car was in the turn lane waiting to turn, not sitting in the middle of the road

- 7 -

unoccupied. In addition, the evidence was that defendant was speeding, with a flat tire, sparks flying off the road, and swerved into oncoming traffic in order to avoid this car. The evidence supports the special verdict that defendant endangered another person during the commission of his crime. Defendant's conviction and the special verdict should be upheld by the Court as there was sufficient evidence to support it.

2. DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTING TO ELUDE A PURSUING POLICE VEHICLE SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE THE CHARGING DOCUMENT CHALLENGED AS INSUFFICIENT CONTAINED THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THAT CRIME.

An Information is constitutionally sufficient if it includes all essential elements of a crime. *State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 787, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995). An "essential element" is an element whose specification is necessary to establish the very illegality of the act charged. *State v. Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d 153, 158, 307 P.3d 712 (2013). Although essential elements are required to make an Information constitutionally sufficient, the State need not include definitions of the elements. *State v. Johnson*, 180 Wn.2d 295, 302, 325 P.3d 135 (2014). Requiring all statutory and non-statutory elements in the charging document provides the accused of fair notice of the charges against him to afford him the opportunity to prepare a defense. *Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d at 787.

If the Information is challenged initially on appeal, it will be construed quite liberally. State v. Hopper 118 Wn.2d 151, 156, 822 P.2d 775 (1992). "A Court should be guided by common sense and practicality in construing the language. Even missing elements may be implied if the language supports such a result." State v. Campbell, 125 Wn.2d 797, 801, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995)(quoting State v. Hopper, 118 Wn.2d 151, 822 P.2d 775 (1992)). "[I]t has never been necessary to use the exact words of a statute in a charging document; it is sufficient if words conveying the same meaning and import are used." State v. Areseneau, 75 Wn. App. 747, 753, 879 P.2d 1003 (1994); Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 101-02; State v. Leach, 113 Wn.2d 679, 686, 782 P.2d 552 (1989). If the reviewing court finds an implied element, it then considers whether the Information used vague or inartful language that actually prejudiced the defendant. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 104; State v. Naillieux, 158 Wn. App. 630, 643, 241 P.3d 1280 (2010).

RCW 46.61.024—Attempting to elude police vehicle, provides:

"(1) Any driver of a motor vehicle who willfully fails or refuses to immediately bring his or her vehicle to a stop and who drives his or her vehicle in a reckless manner while attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, after being given a visual or audible signal to bring the vehicle to a stop, shall be guilty of a class C felony. The signal given by the police officer may be by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren. The officer giving such a signal shall be in uniform and the vehicle shall be equipped with lights and sirens."

The challenged Amended Information charged defendant in Count

I with "ATTEMPTING TO ELUDE A PURSUING POLICE VEHICE,"

as follows:

"That ANTHONY JOSHUA TOLMAN, in the State of Washington, on or about the 17th day of June, did unlawfully, feloniously, and willfully fail or refuse to immediately bring his vehicle to a stop and drive his vehicle in a reckless manner while attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, after being given a visual or audible signal to bring his vehicle to a stop by a uniformed officer in a vehicle equipped with lights and sirens, contrary to RCW 46.61.024(1)"

CP 8.

Defendant argues the Amended Information is insufficient because it did not include RCW 46.61.024(1)'s second sentence, "The signal given by the police officer may be by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren." This exact argument was resolved in *State v. Pittman*, --- Wn. App. ---, 341 P.3d 1024, 1028 (2015), "The specific manner by which police signal someone to stop is not an essential element of the crime of attempting to elude a police vehicle."

The Court will overrule a prior decision only upon a clear showing that the rule it announced is incorrect and harmful. *State v. W.R., Jr.*, 181 Wn.2d 757, 768, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014). Defendant fails to make a clear

showing that Pittman was incorrect or that it is harmful.

Pittman was correctly decided. The *Pittman* Court noted that "RCW 46.61.024(1) must be interpreted to require that the police have reasonably signaled the defendant to stop, but not that they must have made that signal exclusively by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren." *Id.* Defendant's example of a person failing to stop after an officer beeps her horn could be accused of eluding (BOA at 13) fails to take this account that a single horn beep is a reasonable signal for a driver to stop.

Defendant has also not show that *Pittman* is harmful. Defendant cites to a hypothetical example to show possible harm, but as argued above, the *Pittman* Court noted that it must be a reasonable signal to stop in interpreting RCW 46.61.024(1). Defendant fails to cite any other example, case, or authority showing how *Pittman* is harmful.

Whether definitional or illustrative, the second sentence does not contain an essential element of the crime. Defendant's challenge to the legal sufficiency of the charging language underlying his conviction for attempting to elude should fail.

3. THE AMENDED INFORMATION INCLUDED SUFFICIENT FACTS TO PROTECT AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY.

For a charging document to be sufficient, it must (1) include the elements of the offense; (2) provide adequate notice as to the charge; and

(3) provide protection against double jeopardy. *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117
Wn.2d 93, 98, 812 P.2d 86 (1991)(*citing* 2 W. LaFave & Israel, Criminal
Procedure § 19.2(b), at 445 (1984)).

LaFave & Israel have noted that this need has been supplanted due to modern procedure: "Thus, commentators and a few courts have questioned whether the double jeopardy function of pleadings has any modern relevancy, as related either to the essential elements requirement or the sufficient specificity requirement." 5 Crim. Proc. § 19.2(b) (3d ed.). This is because defendant now has available not only the information, but also the entire record of his trial. *See e.g., State v. Smith*, 102 Idaho 108, 110, 626 P.2d 206, 208 (1981); *U.S. v. Staggs*, 881 F.2d 1527, 1530 (10th Cir. 1989); *State v. Gifford* 595 A.2d 1049 (Me. 1991).

Defendant also argues this principal citing *Russell v. United States*, 369 U.S. 749, 763-64, 82 S. Ct. 1038, 8 L.3d.2d 240(1962). However, *Russell* is distinguishable as it was based on a federal prosecution involving indictments charging individuals with refusal to answer certain questions before a congressional subcommittee where these indictments did not identify the subject under investigation. Multiple federal courts have limited the *Russell* decision because of the specific nature of the federal crime at issue. *See e.g. U.S. v McClean*, 528 F.2d 1250, 1257 (2nd Cir. 1976). In this case, the Amended Information is sufficient to protect against double jeopardy as it is accompanied by a Declaration of Probable Cause. Among other facts, the Declaration of Probable Cause in this case names Deputy Wheeler as the deputy that defendant eluded, lists the location of the crime and the specific conduct constituting the offense, identifies the stolen vehicle, and identifies the owner of the stolen vehicle. CP 74. This document, which was filed in open court and provided to the defendant along with the Information, provided defendant with sufficient facts to protect against double jeopardy. Although not a case specifically about double jeopardy, the Court notes in *State v. Greathouse*, 113 Wn. App. 889, 905-906, 56 P.3d 569 (2002), that the State can lay out it's theory of the case in the declaration of probable cause. *Greathouse* dealt with the sufficiency of the Information, rejecting defendant's argument that the victim needs to be named in the Information. *Id*.

In addition, defendant never asked for a bill of particulars, which would have cured any lack of specificity complained of by defendant. A defendant may not challenge a charging document for "vagueness" on appeal if no bill of particulars was requested at trial. *State v. Leach*, 113 Wn. 2d 679, 687, 782 P.2d 552, 555 (1989).

The Amended Information, coupled with the detailed Declaration

- 13 -

of Probable Cause, is sufficient to protect defendant against double jeopardy. He was provided with the facts laying out the charges against him, his victims, the date and time of the crime, and other information. In addition, his trial was transcribed and would be available in the future to protect him against any attempt at a subsequent prosecution on these same charges. The Court should uphold his convictions.

4. JURY INSTRUCTION 2, BASED ON WPIC 4.01, IS A CORRECT STATEMENT OF THE LAW.

Jury instructions are reviewed de novo, within the context of the jury instructions as a whole. *State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 720, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). A jury instruction is sufficient if it correctly states the law, is not misleading, and permits counsel to argue their theory of the case. *State v. Mark*, 94 Wn.2d 520, 526, 618 P.2d 73 (1980).

In *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 203, 318, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007), the Supreme Court, using its inherent supervisory power, ordered that trial courts use only the approved pattern instruction WPIC 4.01. The Court noted that this instruction is derived from the instruction in *State. v. Tanzymore*, 54 Wn.2d 290, 340 P.2d 178 (1959), and that "this instruction has been accepted as a correct statement of the law for so many years, we find the assignment [of error criticizing the instruction] without merit.

Bennett, 161 Wn.2d at 308, quoting Tanzymore, 54 Wn.2d at 291.

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